FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/19/2020 4:02 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/22/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98470-1

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON No. 78946-5-I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE, a municipal corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

KMS FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondent.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES
Seattle City Attorney
JENNIFER GILMAN, WSBA#21234
SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2050
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 615-0047

### I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Court of Appeals erroneously declared that Petitioner the City of Seattle's (the "City's) Business and Occupation ("B&O") tax is unconstitutional "as applied" to Respondent KMS Financial Services, Inc. ("KMS"), a securities broker dealer, and in doing so also substantially undermined a compulsory and widely-used statewide taxing methodology. In reaching its conclusion, the Court of Appeals failed properly to apply the test for apportionment under the federal Commerce Clause, or the separate state law test governing intrastate activity. By holding that the City could not exclude independent contractors from a portion of its apportionment formula, the Court of Appeals also created significant confusion as to how, or if, cities may constitutionally apply the state enabling legislation and their corresponding model ordinances. Review is warranted in this case on three alternative grounds—it presents significant constitutional questions, it involves an issue of substantial public importance, and it conflicts with this Court's authority. The City respectfully requests that this Court grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and reinstate the trial court's decision finding no constitutional violation.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The City seeks review of a published opinion (the "Decision") of Division I of the Court of Appeals, filed February 24, 2020. The Court of Appeals denied the City's motion for reconsideration on April 21, 2020.

### III. ISSUES TO BE REVIEWED

- A. Did the Court of Appeals err in declaring the City's B&O tax unfairly apportioned and therefore unconstitutional?
- B. Did the Court of Appeals err in granting KMS the tax advantage of treating independent contractors as employees?
- C. Did the Court of Appeals err in applying an alternative method of apportionment after the fact, even though KMS did not timely petition for alternative apportionment?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. KMS Uses Independent Contractors to Conduct Its Service Business.

KMS is a Washington corporation with its headquarters in Seattle. It is engaged in the securities, insurance, and investment advisory business as a broker-dealer under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. CP 9-10. During the time period relevant to this case, KMS employed approximately 50 workers at its Seattle home office. In addition to those

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Copies of the Decision and order on reconsideration are attached as Appendices A and B, respectively.

Seattle employees, KMS relies on approximately 350 "registered representatives" to sell stocks and other financial products inside and outside the City. CP 9-10. KMS pays registered representatives commissions from 50% to 95% of gross sales, based upon calendar year earnings. CP 11, 29-30. The Seattle staff supports the registered representatives' sales activities, processes clients' payments for stocks and other financial instruments, and generates trade reports. CP 11-12.

It is undisputed that KMS' registered representatives are independent contractors. CP 10-11, 26. The record does not reflect how many of KMS' registered representatives work inside versus outside the City, nor does the record allow a determination of how many registered representatives work inside versus outside of Washington State.

### B. State Law Requires the City to Consider Employee, But Not Independent Contractor, Compensation in Apportioning Income for B&O Tax Purposes.

The City of Seattle imposes a B&O tax on all persons engaging in business activity within city limits. Seattle Municipal Code ("SMC") 5.45.050. The tax is calculated "by application of rates against gross proceeds of sale, gross income of business, or value of products," and the tax rate varies depending upon the type business activity. SMC 5.45.050(A)-(F). The tax is applied to gross receipts, without any deductions for expenses or costs of doing business. SMC 5.30.035(D)-

(E). "Engaging in business" includes "commencing, conducting, or continuing in" business activity in the City. SMC 5.30.030(B).

When a service business like KMS claims to earn income both inside and outside the City, the portion of that business's income attributable to Seattle must be determined. The Model B&O Tax Ordinance ("Model Ordinance"), codified in chapter 35.102 RCW, dictates the method of apportionment the City must use. Since January 1, 2008, the Model Ordinance has required cities that levy the B&O tax to apportion income, so as to address the issue of multiple taxation. RCW 35.102.130(3) establishes a mandatory two-factor apportionment formula that all cities in Washington must use to calculate the portion of a company's gross income attributable to its activities inside city limits. This formula requires the taxpayer to calculate a "service income" factor and "payroll" factor. *Id*. 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All cities with a B&O tax were required to adopt the Model Ordinance no later than December 31, 2004. The Model Ordinance mandated certain definitions, penalty and interest provisions, and payment periods. *See* RCW 35.102.040.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This statute was amended effective January 1, 2020. *See* Laws of 2019, ch. 101. All citations herein are to the prior version effective until January 1, 2020, as that version was in effect when the events relevant to this dispute took place.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Each of these factors is expressed as a fraction: for payroll, total compensation paid to employees in a city is the numerator and total compensation paid to employees everywhere in the country is the denominator; likewise, service income in a city is the numerator and service income everywhere is the denominator for the income factor. Those two resulting fractions or percentages (payroll and service income) are then added together, divided by two, and multiplied by the company's taxable income. The result is the income on which a company must pay B&O tax in a particular city. CP 12-14; RCW 35.102.130; SMC 5.45.081; *see also* Appendix C for a visual representation of the apportionment formula.

The dispute in this case is solely about KMS's payroll factor.

The Model Ordinance provides as to that factor:

- (a) The payroll factor is a fraction, the numerator of which is the total amount paid in the city during the tax period by the taxpayer for compensation and the denominator of which is the total compensation paid everywhere during the tax period. Compensation is paid in the city if:
- (i) The individual is primarily assigned within the city;
- (ii) The individual is not primarily assigned to any place of business for the tax period and the employee performs fifty percent or more of his or her service for the tax period in the city; or
- (iii) The individual is not primarily assigned to any place of business for the tax period, the individual does not perform fifty percent or more of his or her service in any city, and the employee resides in the city.

RCW 35.102.130(3)(a). For purposes of this factor, "compensation" is defined as "wages, salaries, commissions, and any other form of remuneration paid to individuals for personal services that are or would be included in the individual's gross income under the federal internal revenue code." RCW 35.102.130(4)(b). "Individual" is defined as "any individual who, under the usual common law rules applicable in determining the employer-employee relationship, **has the status of an employee of that taxpayer**." RCW 35.102.130(4)(c) (emphasis added).

Effective January 1, 2008, the City adopted by ordinance the two-factor test set forth in the Model Ordinance, including the payroll factor and relevant definitions quoted above. SMC 5.45.081(F), (H). Since that

time, pursuant to the Model Ordinance, the City has consistently interpreted "compensation" for purposes of the payroll factor to include only compensation paid by a taxpayer to its **employees**. The City excludes from the payroll factor commissions paid to **independent contractors**.

### C. The City Discovers KMS Miscalculated Its Payroll Factor.

Without informing the City, KMS took the opposite approach. During the January 2012 through March 2016 audit period, KMS erroneously included its independent contractors' commissions in its payroll factor, such that the resulting payroll factor was a much smaller number than it would be if independent contractors were excluded. As a result, KMS underpaid B&O tax during the audit period by \$460,972. CP 14.5 The City audited KMS in 2016 and discovered KMS' incorrect payroll factor calculation. The City issued an assessment to recover the underpaid amount as well as interest and penalties. CP 13-14, 34.

KMS paid the assessment and then filed a complaint for refund in King County Superior Court, claiming the City improperly excluded independent contractor compensation from the payroll factor calculation. CP 1-3. Both parties moved for summary judgment on that single issue. CP 43-65. After briefing and oral argument, the trial court ruled in favor of the City. CP 116-17.

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> KMS also underpaid its taxes from 2008 through 2011, but the City is not attempting to recover those taxes due to "lookback" limitations in the SMC. *See* SMC 5.55.095.

# D. The Court of Appeals Rules the City's B&O Tax Unconstitutional as Applied to KMS.

The Court of Appeals reversed. City of Seattle v. KMS Fin. Servs., Inc., 12 Wn. App. 2d 491, 459 P.3d 359 (2020) ("KMS II"). Despite stating the general rule that courts give considerable deference to the construction of a challenged ordinance by the officials charged with its enforcement, see id. at 501, the Court of Appeals summarily rejected the City's consistently-applied interpretation of the Model Ordinance and its own code adopting the same. In doing so, the court relied heavily on its prior decision in KMS Fin. Servs., Inc. v. City of Seattle, 135 Wn. App. 489, 146 P.3d 1195 (2006) (KMS I). That case, which pre-dated the twofactor apportionment test at issue here, addressed whether the City could attribute all of KMS' income to Seattle simply because its home office was located there. In KMS I, the court concluded that federal and state law prohibited such attribution and held that the City must fairly apportion KMS' gross receipts based on where the income-generating activity occurred. 135 Wn. App. at 509, 512.

In the present matter, the Court of Appeals acknowledged the law on apportionment had changed, but invalidated the new formula.

Apparently relying on the Commerce Clause of the United States

Constitution—which applies to attempts to tax income generated out of

state<sup>6</sup>—the court ruled the B&O tax "unconstitutional as applied because it was not fairly apportioned." *KMS* II, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 504; *see also id.* at 494, 502 (discussing Commerce Clause's fair apportionment requirement). Ignoring the Model Ordinance's definition of "individual," the court rejected the City's claim that compensation paid to KMS' independent contractors must be excluded from the payroll factor and held that whether a taxpayer does business through independent contractors or employees is constitutionally insignificant. *Id.* at 505. The court focused on the income-generating function of KMS' independent contractors:

In essence, the City attributes most of KMS's income to the work of approximately 50 employees based in the city when it is undisputed that the bulk of KMS's income comes from the work of the 300-plus registered representatives based outside the city.

Because the City failed to consider where and how KMS generated its income, the tax is not externally consistent as applied to KMS. Therefore, the B&O tax is not fairly apportioned to KMS. Because the tax is not fairly apportioned, it is unconstitutional as applied to KMS.

*Id.* at 506.

But the court did not stop there. In the name of "constitutional avoidance," it retroactively applied a statutory option KMS never timely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The exact basis of the court's holding is not entirely clear, but its use of the term "fairly apportioned" apparently refers to the federal Commerce Clause standard. The court also cited Washington law's "similar limitation" on the City's power to tax income generated outside of Seattle but within the State of Washington, *see id.* at 494-95, 503, but it did not evaluate the City's B&O tax under Washington's test.

invoked. The court granted KMS alternative apportionment of its income under RCW 35.102.130(3)(c), which provides that if the two-factor formula does not "fairly represent the extent of the taxpayer's business activity in the city or cities in which the taxpayer does business, **the taxpayer may petition for** or the tax administrators may jointly require" an alternative apportionment method. (Emphasis added); *see also KMS II*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 506-07. Despite the fact that KMS did not petition for alternative allocation prior to the City's audit, the court ruled the City should have *sua sponte* employed a different method. *Id.* at 507. The court then concluded that the City "could logically consider [KMS'] registered representatives to be employees for an alternative apportionment calculation of the B&O tax." *Id.* at 509.

### V. ARGUMENT

The City seeks review of the Decision for three alternative reasons. First, under RAP 13.4(b)(3), this case involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the United States. The Court of Appeals incorrectly held the City's apportionment method unconstitutional, seemingly under the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution. Second, under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this case involves issues of substantial public interest that this Court should determine. The Decision introduces substantial confusion for every city charging B&O tax in Washington

State regarding application of the apportionment methodology required under the Model Ordinance. It also undermines voluntary compliance by authorizing taxpayers to request alternative apportionment after an audit reveals improper reporting. Third, under RAP 13.4(b)(1), the Decision conflicts with this Court's authority, most prominently *Dravo Corp. v. City of Tacoma*, 80 Wn.2d 590, 496 P.2d 504 (1972).

# A. This Case Involves a Significant Question of Law Under the United States Constitution.

An ordinance is presumed constitutional, and the challenger bears the burden to prove it is unconstitutional "beyond a reasonable doubt." *City of Seattle v. Huff*, 111 Wn.2d 923, 928, 767 P.2d 572 (1989). Further, under the SMC, "the City's assessment is prima facie correct." *Wedbush Sec., Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 189 Wn. App. 360, 363, 358 P.3d 422 (2015).

"A B&O tax is assessed for the privilege of conducting business in the taxing jurisdiction." *Id.* The Court of Appeals held the City's B&O tax "unconstitutional as applied because it was not fairly apportioned," apparently invoking the Commerce Clause. *KMS* II, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 504.<sup>7</sup> The Commerce Clause requires that a state tax imposed on activity in interstate commerce be (1) "applied to an activity with a substantial

 $<sup>^7</sup>$  The Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution provides that "Congress shall have the power . . . [t]o regulate commerce with foreign nations, and among the several states, and with the Indian tribes[.]" U.S. Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 3.

nexus with the taxing State," (2) "fairly apportioned," (3) nondiscriminatory with respect to interstate commerce, and (4) "fairly related to the services provided by the State." *Complete Auto Transit, Inc.* v. *Brady*, 430 U.S. 274, 279, 97 S. Ct. 1076, 51 L. Ed. 2d 326 (1977).

The Decision appears to focus solely on the second prong of the *Complete Auto* test—the requirement that a tax be "fairly apportioned" under the Commerce Clause. "A tax is fairly apportioned if it is internally and externally consistent." *Goldberg v. Sweet*, 488 U.S. 252, 261, 109 S. Ct. 582, 102 L. Ed. 2d 607 (1989), *abrogated on other grounds*, *Comptroller of Treasury of Md. v. Wynne*, 575 U.S. 542, 135 S. Ct. 1787, 191 L. Ed. 2d 813 (2015). Here, KMS has not argued internal consistency is at issue, and the Court of Appeals accordingly limited its analysis to external consistency. *See KMS* II, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 506. External consistency requires that "the factor or factors used in the apportionment formula must actually reflect a reasonable sense of how income is generated." *Container Corp. of Am. v. Cal. Franchise Tax Bd.*, 463 U.S. 159, 169, 103 S. Ct. 2933, 77 L. Ed. 2d 545 (1983).

External consistency looks to the economic justification for the claim upon the value taxed, to discover whether a tax reaches beyond that portion of value that is fairly attributable to economic activity within its jurisdiction. *Gen. Motors Corp. v. City of Seattle*, 107 Wn. App. 42, 58, 25

P.3d 1022 (2001) (quoting *Okla. Tax Comm'n v. Jefferson Lines*, 514 U.S. 175, 185, 115 S. Ct. 1331, 131 L. Ed. 2d 261 (1995)). The external consistency test focuses on the "real possibility of multiple taxation," *Gen. Motors Corp.*, 107 Wn. App. at 61, but KMS neither alleged nor proved it is subject to multiple taxation. Still, the Court of Appeals held the City's B&O tax is "not externally consistent as applied to KMS" and "not fairly apportioned to KMS." *KMS* II, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 506.

The Decision cited *KMS* I for the conclusion that the City "failed to consider where and how KMS generated its income" for purposes of external consistency. *Id.* But the law and the City's apportionment methodology has changed significantly since *KMS* I, and the Court of Appeals' reliance on its earlier decision to invalidate the City's apportionment was constitutionally erroneous and warrants review. In *KMS* I, the Court of Appeals held that the City's imposition of a B&O tax on KMS's entire gross income—without apportioning it in any way—exceeded constitutional limitations. 135 Wn. App. at 505-09. Under the tax code in effect at the time of *KMS* I, the City assessed B&O tax on all commissions generated by registered representatives. *Id.* at 505-06. But the Model Ordinance's two-factor apportionment method has superseded that code. *See Wedbush*, 189 Wn. App. at 364 ("On January 1, 2008, RCW 35.102.130 established new allocations and apportionment requirements for cities with a gross receipt

business tax."). Under the applicable formula, the **income factor** looks at both income earned inside the City and income earned elsewhere. RCW 35.102.130(3)(b)(i-iii). Here, where income is earned outside Seattle, the City's formula—per state law—accounts for that. The rationale the Court of Appeals used in *KMS* I no longer applies.

The Decision improperly conflates the current apportionment formula's payroll and income factors to reach the conclusion that the City unconstitutionally apportioned KMS' income. The payroll factor in the City's apportionment formula looks only at the total compensation paid in the city and the total compensation paid everywhere. It is a good indicator of where states incur costs related to the protections, benefits, and services provided to taxpayers and their employees. Maureen Pechacek & Karen Nakamura, The Payroll Factor: Whose Factor Is It Anyway?, SYMPOSIUM EDITION, STATE AND LOCAL TAX LAWYER 155 (2009). KMS chooses for business reasons to treat its registered representatives as independent contractors rather than employees, thereby saving the employer's share of Medicare and Social Security, unemployment taxes, and worker's compensation, as well as the costs of licensing, office space, equipment, and benefits for employees. CP 26. It stipulated for purposes of this case that the registered representatives are independent contractors. CP 11. The registered representatives are in business for themselves, and their commissions are properly excluded from payroll.

As noted above, however, the **income factor** takes into account income earned in the City and income earned everywhere. RCW 35.102.130(3)(b). Unlike in *KMS* I, the apportionment in this case fully reflects, **in the income factor**, where KMS earned its income. The City does not source to Seattle any of the income earned from KMS' independent contractors unless, as required under the formula, the contractor's customer location is in the City. As a result, the numerator of the income factor (income in Seattle) is small (11.17% - 15.29% over four years) and the denominator (income everywhere) is large. CP 32.8

It is "not the purpose of the commerce clause to relieve those engaged in interstate commerce from their just share of state tax burden even though it increases the cost of doing the business." *Complete Auto*, 430 U.S. at 279 (internal quotation omitted). The income factor reflects the economic reality of where revenue is generated, whereas the payroll factor reflects the economic reality of where expenses are incurred to generate the income. The Court of Appeals nevertheless incorrectly applied the requirements of the income factor to the payroll factor. The payroll factor's exclusion of independent contractors is simply not at issue in determining external consistency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> KMS has not argued the income factor was wrongly calculated.

Further muddying the waters, the Court of Appeals cited *Scripto, Inc. v. Carson*, 362 U.S. 207, 80 S. Ct. 619, 4 L. Ed. 2d 660 (1960) for the proposition that there is no "constitutional significance" to the distinction between employees and independent contractors. *KMS* II, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 505 (quoting *Scripto* at 211-12). But *Scripto* addressed whether a business had a sufficient connection ("nexus") with the taxing state, holding that a business can create nexus with multiple jurisdictions by using independent contractors around the country. 362 U.S. at 210-12. As noted above, the sole issue in this case is "fair apportionment" under *Complete Auto*'s Commerce Clause test. The "nexus" prong is not at issue. *Scripto* does not hold that independent contractor status has no relevance to the payroll component of fair apportionment.<sup>9</sup>

Finally, although the Court of Appeals appears to have decided this case based on the federal Commerce Clause, it also cited Washington's "similar limitation" on taxing authority. *See KMS* II, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 494-95, 503. But these tests are not identical. The Commerce Clause test

to an independent contractor are excluded).

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