FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/16/2020 11:51 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98470-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

KMS FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,

Respondent

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Petitioner

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Scott M. Edwards, WSBA No. 26455 Ryan P. McBride, WSBA No. 33280 Daniel A. Kittle, WSBA No. 43340 Attorneys for Respondent KMS Financial Services, Inc.

LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, WA 98111-9402 Telephone: 206.223.7000

Facsimile: 206.223.7107

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

IV. ARGUMENTS AGAINST REVIEW

- A. Seattle Did Not Fairly Apportion KMS's Income.
 - 1. Seattle Improperly Ignored The Income-Generating Activities Of KMS's Registered Representatives.

Seattle cannot demonstrate grounds for review in the first instance because the Court of Appeals' decision was entirely correct. The court recognized that "[b]ecause KMS's registered representatives operated in Seattle, in other Washington state locations, and in locations outside Washington state, the City's tax must meet both state and federal constitutional requirements." Op. at 8 (quoting *KMS I*, 135 Wn. App. at 503). To satisfy those requirements, Seattle's B&O tax must be "fairly apportioned" to reflect the location of the income-generating activities of KMS's registered representatives. Op. at 11-12. "[T]he point of fair apportionment is to ensure that a city only taxes income attributable and proportional to a taxpayer's income-generating activity in the city." *Id*.

Seattle didn't do that. By excluding registered representatives from the payroll factor, Seattle attributed most of KMS's income to the work of a few dozen administrative employees working the city even though it was undisputed that most of KMS's revenue was generated by hundreds of registered representatives working outside the city. Op. at 12-13. As the Court of Appeals aptly noted, "It does not matter whether income is generated by independent contractors or employees working <u>outside</u> the city. Either way, they are not working <u>in</u> the city; the city has no claim to a 'fair share' of the income they generate." *Id.* (underline in original).

Seattle offers no authority to show that fair apportionment differs when a taxpayer's income is generated by independent contractors. The fact that a taxpayer does business through independent contractors, rather than employees, is "without constitutional significance." *Scripto v. Carson*, 362 U.S. 207, 211-12 (1960). Seattle points out that *Scripto* addressed nexus, not apportionment, but cannot explain why that makes a difference. Pet. at 15. It doesn't. If Seattle can tax income generated by a taxpayer's independent contractors working both in and outside the city—and it does, *see* SMC 5.30.030(B)(3)—then where those independent contractors work must be reflected in how that income is apportioned.

11

¹ The only case Seattle cites (*see* Pet. at 15, n. 9) was decided solely on statutory grounds; it did not consider fair apportionment under federal or state constitutional principles. But, even on statutory grounds, courts have found alternative apportionment necessary if inclusion of independent contractors in the payroll factor results in unfairness. *See Miami Corp. v. Ill. Dep't of Revenue*, 571 N.E.2d 800 (Ill. App. 1991); *Lancaster Colony Corp. v. Limbach*, 524 N.E.2d 1389 (Ohio 1988).

2. The "Income Factor" Does Not Reflect The Location Of KMS's Income-Generating Activities.

Conspicuously, Seattle does not argue that the Court of Appeals' constitutional analysis was flawed. Rather, it attacks the court's reliance on *KMS I* because the city's "apportionment methodology has changed significantly." Pet. at 12-13. The Court of Appeals rejected this false distinction. "While the law has changed, the City's argument here suffers the same defect it did in *KMS I*. The City again ignores where KMS's registered agents work and generate income in calculating the payroll factor. . . . In essence, the City attributes most of KMS's income to the work of approximately 50 employees based in the city when it is undisputed that the bulk of KMS's income comes from the work of the 300-plus registered representatives based outside the city." Op. at 13.

In so holding, the Court of Appeals recognized that the "income factor" of Seattle's two-factor apportionment formula did not salvage the tax's constitutionality. Seattle argues that the court "improperly conflates the formula's payroll and income factors," because it is the income factor that "fully reflects . . . where KMS earned its income." Pet. at 14. Wrong. As required, KMS (and the city) calculated the income factor exclusively based on "customer location." CP 12; SMC 5.45.081(F)(2)(a). And, of course, the location of KMS's customers is not the same as the location of

KMS's registered representatives. Seattle offered no evidence that KMS's customers always live where its registered representatives work. They don't. Customers living in Seattle can and do buy securities from registered representative working outside the city, and vice versa.

The income factor focuses on "customer location" because it is intended to reflect the contribution of the *market* for a taxpayer's service (*i.e.*, where the benefit of the service is received), not the contribution of the *labor* needed to create that market (*i.e.*, where income-generating activity occurs). *See* Pechacek & Nakamura, *The Payroll Factor: Whose Factor Is It Anyway?* 2010 St. & Loc. Tax Law 155, 155-56 (2009); Hellerstein & Hellerstein, *State Taxation*, ¶¶ 9.17 & 9.18 (3d ed. 2001 & Supp. 2014). Only the payroll factor reflects the location of the taxpayer's income-generating activities, and it does so by comparing compensation it pays for work performed inside and outside the city.

Even if Seattle could show that the income factor reflected some of KMS's income-generating activities, it still is not enough. One factor of a multi-factor apportionment formula "may be so distortive that the other [factors] do not mitigate its effect on the formula as a whole." *In re Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.*, 1989 WL 95886, *3 (Cal. St. Bd. Eq. June 2, 1989). To identify unconstitutional distortion, courts compare "the percentage differences between the application of different

13

methodologies." Hellerstein, *supra*, at ¶ 8.15[5]. The U.S. Supreme Court has found differences around 200% or more to be "out of all appropriate proportions to the business transacted" in the state. *Hans Rees' Sons, Inc.* v. N.C., 283 U.S. 123, 135 (1931) (250%); *Norfolk & Western Railway v. Missouri State Tax Comm'n*, 390 U.S. 317, 326-29 (1968) (166%).

Here, Seattle's erroneous application of the payroll factor plainly surpassed this unconstitutional threshold. KMS's income factor ranged between 13.11% and 15.29%. CP 32. When KMS properly included compensation paid to registered representatives in the payroll factor, the overall apportionment ratio was consistent, ranging between 15.17% and 16.78%. *Id.* But when the city excluded that compensation from the payroll factor, KMS's apportionment ratio increased by more than 300%. *Id.* The simple fact that the city's exclusion of registered representative compensation from the payroll factor tripled KMS's B&O tax liability refutes Seattle's claim that the income factor adequately reflects the location of KMS's income-generating activities.

3. There Is No Difference Between Federal And State Law.

Finally, this Court can easily reject Seattle's suggestion that the Court of Appeals erred in applying Commerce Clause analysis to the intrastate component of KMS's fair apportionment challenge because the "tests are not identical." Pet. at 15-16. To begin with, Seattle did not raise any

purported distinction between federal and state law during administrative review, at the trial court, or with the Court of Appeals—or even mention it in passing. It is axiomatic that the city cannot raise the issue for the first time in a petition for review to this Court. *See Crystal Ridge Homeowners Assoc. v. City of Bothell*, 182 Wn.2d 665, 678, 343 P.3d 746 (2015).

The argument is a red-herring anyway. Seattle cannot cite any authority to show that the interstate and intrastate apportionment tests are different—because they are not. (As discussed below, no separate test was articulated in *Dravo*.) Rather, "[o]ur Supreme Court, in molding limits upon the exercise of a municipal corporation's power to impose a business and occupation tax on local business activities, has analogized from decisions of the United States Supreme Court in cases involving state taxation of interstate commerce." *KMS I*, 135 Wn. App. at 510 (quoting *Tacoma v. Fiberchem, Inc.*, 44 Wn. App. 538, 543, 722 P.2d 1357 (1986)). The same fair apportionment standards applied to interstate transactions under the Commerce Clause apply equally to intrastate transactions that occur within Washington but outside Seattle city limits. *Id.* at 512.

B. There Are No Issues Of Substantial Public Interest.

Seattle offers two reasons why it believes this case presents issues of public importance, neither of which have merit. The city first falsely characterizes the scope of the Court of Appeals' decision, arguing it "calls

into question the application of ordinances across the State." Pet. at 16. But the decision does not question the validity of the two-factor formula used by Seattle and other cities under RCW 35.102.130. The holding is expressly limited to KMS. "Because the tax is not fairly apportioned, it is unconstitutional as applied to KMS." Op. at 13. There is no question that the formula is constitutional as applied to most taxpayers and, indeed, it would have been constitutional as applied to KMS if, as the Court of Appeals held, Seattle had properly construed its "plain language" to allow KMS to treat its registered representatives as employees. *Id.* at 15-16.

Equally overblown is Seattle's claim that the decision will require cities to "conduct a nuanced legal and factual analysis of whether each taxpayer uses employees or independent contractors." Pet. at 17. The Court of Appeals did not hold that compensation paid by any taxpayer to any independent contractor must be included in the payroll factor. Here, too, the decision was limited to KMS and, like *KMS I*, turned on the specific nature of KMS's business—"the City attributes most of KMS's income to the work of approximately 50 employees based in the city," who generate no income, when "the bulk of KMS's income comes from the work of the 300-plus registered representatives based outside the city." Op. at 13. Seattle fails to show that other taxpayers are similarly situated, or that the decision will impact the tax treatment of any such taxpayer.

Seattle's second reason posits that the Court of Appeals' decision will encourage taxpayers to flout the two-factor apportionment formula. Pet. at 18. The city's premise is factually and legally wrong. This is not a case where a taxpayer secretly used an alternative methodology, waiting to request permission to use that methodology when audited. From the start, KMS treated its registered representatives as employees when calculating the payroll factor, and it was transparent in doing so. There was no reason for KMS to request alternative apportionment when—as the Court of Appeals concluded—it was properly applying the two-factor formula all along. Indeed, the court ordered the city to use alternative apportionment as a judicial remedy, not because KMS requested it during audit. So the decision in no way can be read to countenance taxpayer subterfuge.

If anything, the decision correctly rejects Seattle's suggestion that cities should be able to assess an unconstitutional tax if the taxpayer does not "petition" for alternative apportionment before paying its taxes. The city's tax code states that "apportionment of revenue . . . shall be made in accordance with and in full compliance with the provisions of the Interstate Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution." SMC 5.45.081(I). As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, alternative apportionment requires cities to comply with this constitutional imperative if the two-factor formula does not—and, that is so even if the taxpayer

does not request alternative apportionment in advance. The Ordinance permits the City to use alternative methods upon a taxpayer's "petition" *or* if "the tax administrators ... jointly require." SMC 5.45.081(F)(3).

At bottom, Seattle cannot explain why the merits of the Court of Appeals' decision—with its sound constitutional analysis and holding limited to a single taxpayer—raises an issue of public importance. Nor can it show that the decision creates any ambiguity in the way cities administer the two-factor formula. The import of the decision is clear and correct; if the formula produces an unconstitutional outcome, cities must use an alternative methodology—or they will be ordered to do so by a court.

C. There Is No Conflict With Federal Or State Authority.

Seattle does not argue that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with federal Commerce Clause authority. It doesn't. Nor does the city identify any conflict between the decision and any prior opinion from this Court or the Court of Appeals—on either federal or state law grounds. Indeed, the decision is entirely consistent with (and, in fact, followed) the Court of Appeals' decisions in *KMS I*, *supra*, and *Avanade*, *Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 151 Wn. App. 290, 211 P.3d 476 (2009). As noted, this Court denied review in *KMS I*, 161 Wn.2d 1011, 166 P.3d 1217 (2007).

Seattle argues that conflict exists because the decision does not apply a "separate" state law test articulated in *Dravo Corp. v. City of*

Tacoma, 80 Wn.2d 590, 496 P.2d 504 (1972). Pet. at 20. Not only did the city fail to make this argument below, it is bogus. In *Dravo*, Tacoma taxed a contract executed in the city, but performed outside the city. The issue was nexus. And the only test articulated was the traditional due process standard for nexus—that is, "whether there is a definite link or minimum connection between the city and the transaction it seeks to tax." 80 Wn.2d at 599. Because "the locus of the activity taxed (I.e. [sic], the making of the contract) occurred within the city," the Court found "sufficient nexus upon which the city could base its B&O tax." *Id.* at 600-601.

The *Dravo* court did not reach the issue of fair apportionment, much less articulate a "separate test governed under state law." Pet. at 20. The Court recognized that intrastate transactions must be apportioned when "the incidence of the tax takes place both within and without the city," but found that no apportionment was required because the "taxable activity was the making of the contract," and that activity "took place entirely within the city limits." *Id.* at 603. Unlike *Dravo*, no one disputes that KMS's income must be apportioned because it was generated both in and outside Seattle. As discussed above, the test for fair apportionment of intrastate transactions under state law is the same as that for interstate transactions under federal law. Op. at 10-11; *KMS I*, 135 Wn. App. at 510. For this reason too, there is no conflict with Washington (or federal) law.

V. CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.